FILED 10/23/2017 10:57 AM Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No.		
110.		

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 75532-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRIAN HOLLINS,

Petitioner,

v.

RICHARD ZBARASCHUK AND ALEXIA ZBARASCHUK,

Respondents.

# **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Leonard J. Feldman, WSBA No. 20961 Ann H. Rosato, WSBA No. 32888 PETERSON | WAMPOLD | ROSATO | FELDMAN | LUNA 1501 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2800 Seattle, WA 98101 206-624-6800

Attorneys for Petitioner

#

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Brian Hollins, plaintiff in the trial court and appellant in the Court of Appeals.

## II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued its published opinion on September /25, 2017. App. 1-19. Judge Stephen Dwyer dissented. App. 20-24.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. What standard of review applies when an appellate court reviews a trial court's post-trial ruling granting a new trial under CR 59(a)(1)? The Panel Majority held that the standard of review is "[a] much stronger showing of abuse of discretion." App. 1. In his dissent, Judge Dwyer concluded that the trial court's post-trial ruling "was a ruling on a legal question, subject to no deference on appeal." App. 20.
- 2. If the Court grants review and holds that the trial court's new trial ruling is not entitled to deference, then the follow-on issue is whether the trial court erred when it granted a new trial under CR 59(a)(1) and set aside the \$2 million jury verdict in Mr. Hollins' favor. Having determined that the trial court's post-trial ruling was not entitled to deference, Judge Dwyer concluded that "[t]his conviction leads me to reach a different result on the merits of the controversy." *Id*.

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Factual Background.

Before Defendants' car smashed into his car, Mr. Hollins was making substantial progress in a career that built on his unique educational and professional background. After earning two degrees in nursing, one in engineering, and another in biblical studies, Mr. Hollins served as a medical officer in the Army where he was responsible for establishing field hospitals and training others to manage mobile operating rooms. RP 206-07. This background enabled Mr. Hollins to manage both the technology and medical aspects of emergency healthcare. RP 206.

After serving in the Army, Mr. Hollins worked as an operating room nurse. RP 206-07. But Mr. Hollins wanted to make better use of his technology experience, so he applied for – and was offered and accepted – a position as a senior clinical analyst at Providence Health Services. RP 220, 242. Providence then told Mr. Hollins he would need to obtain two EPIC certifications for his job. RP 221. Mr. Hollins obtained those certifications, which would have increased his potential salary to at least \$139,000. RP 226, 249, 579, 608-09, 616.

Unfortunately, Mr. Hollins never realized that earning potential because, on September 23, 2011, Alexia Zbaraschuk negligently crashed her family's car into the back of Mr. Hollins' car. This was a serious

collision: the rear bumper was pushed into the back seat, the back of the car "was basically almost torn off," and the back glass "exploded." RP 243; Ex. 2. Mr. Hollins was transported to the hospital. RP 233. A week later, Mr. Hollins returned to the emergency room "because the pain was just unbearable." RP 234. He described the pain as "positional," adding that "when it's at its worst the only thing I can do is lay down because any movement triggers that radiating pain." RP 235.

Mr. Hollins began extensive rehabilitation treatment. At first, his treatment consisted of "probably 12 to 15 visits weekly," which included chiropractors, acupuncturists, and physical therapists. RP 236. He also worked with professionals to develop a program where he could treat himself. RP 237. That included a "cervical traction device," which Mr. Hollins "use[s] every day to decompress the area." *Id.* Mr. Hollins uses this device to "alleviate the pain" and "[j]ust to be able to sleep." RP 238.

Following the collision, Mr. Hollins could no longer perform his job duties as a senior clinical analyst at Providence. In order to implement an electronic health records system at a hospital, Mr. Hollins was required to be "on site." RP 221. But "Providence is in five states," and Mr. Hollins was unable to travel because of "excruciating pain." RP 222. Additionally, he could not stand or sit in front of a computer for long periods of time. *Id.* 

Consequently, it "became extremely difficult" to do his job and Mr. Hollins therefore resigned. RP 223, 241.

## B. Procedural Background.

Mr. Hollins filed this lawsuit against Alexia Zbaraschuk (the at-fault driver), Richard Zbaraschuk (Alexia's father), their respective spouses, and their marital community (collectively "Defendants"). CP 1-4. As trial approached, Mr. Hollins filed a motion for summary judgment regarding causation, necessity of medical treatment, and reasonableness of charges. CP 5-14. In response, Defendants stated that they "have admitted liability and have stricken their affirmative defenses." CP 91. The first judge assigned to this matter – referred to herein as "the motion judge" – granted that motion. CP 168-69.

Mr. Hollins then filed a motion in limine regarding unrelated physical injuries. CP 80-91. Mr. Hollins argued that there was no "medical proof" linking those unrelated injuries to the harm caused by the collision and that the jury should not be permitted to speculate regarding the potential effect of the unrelated injuries. CP 82-85. In response to this argument, Defendants stated: "Defendants will concede that plaintiff is not making a claim for a right wrist injury, left elbow injury, left knee injury or right hip injury. Defendants do not intend to explore those injuries unless the Plaintiff opens the door." CP 96 (emphasis added). The motion judge

granted this motion and excluded evidence and argument regarding those unrelated injuries. CP 166.

Before trial, the case was transferred to another judge, referred to herein as "the trial judge." During opening statements, Mr. Hollins' attorneys told the jury "we will request a jury verdict of \$5.2 million." RP 197. Mr. Hollins then testified that he could no longer perform his job duties as a senior clinical analyst because of the neck injury that he sustained in the collision. RP 223, 241. Realizing that they had conceded liability and causation in a case where the plaintiff was seeking *substantial* damages, Defendants asked the trial judge to reconsider the motion judge's ruling excluding evidence of unrelated injuries. Defendants argued that Mr. Hollins had opened the door to such evidence – even though he limited his testimony to his neck injury – and that "it's important for the jury now to have a complete picture, certainly now that the jury has been asked to award \$5.2 million." RP 281.

The trial judge took the issue under advisement so she could review the previous briefing and the motion judge's order. RP 287. After doing so, she ruled "I'm not going to alter [the motion judge's] ruling." RP 289. The trial judge explained that Defendants had "no evidence" linking those other injuries to Mr. Hollins' damages and added that "I would need evidence of that nature, which is causative as to the damages he's claiming

in order for it to rise above the level of speculation or causing undue prejudice, meaning being more potentially confusing and prejudicial than probative on this issue." RP 288-89.

Defendants renewed their request later the same day. RP 337. The trial judge responded by stating that she wanted to "look again at the briefing and sort of the fine distinctions in the briefing that was before [the motion judge] and the arguments that the defendants are making today." RP 338. After doing so, the trial judge ruled *again* that "allowing this evidence would cause confusion and difficulty for the jury" and that the evidence was "more prejudicial than probative." RP 339.

The issue then arose again during arguments regarding jury instructions. In that context, Defendants' counsel complained that Mr. Hollins had testified that he continued treating for his neck injury through August 2015 even though he had provided medical records only through December 2012. RP 441-45. Here again, Defendants argued that the jury did not "have the complete picture." RP 445. To address this alleged disconnect, the trial judge instructed the jury to "disregard testimony, if any, that describes *or relates to* medical treatment Plaintiff received or may seek after December 2012, other than self-help care." CP 426 (emphasis added). The trial judge also ruled: "I believe that defendants can make their argument within the wording of this instruction." RP 724.

The jury ultimately awarded damages totaling \$2,004,491.18. CP 437. While that amount is significant, Mr. Hollins' neck injury is "permanent" and his counsel asked the jury to award \$5.2 million for 32 years of pain and suffering, 32 years of impairment and loss of enjoyment of life, 32 years of emotional distress, 16 years of future diminished earning capacity, and 5 years of past lost earning capacity. RP 230, 749-54. The jury awarded roughly 38% of that amount.

Defendants then filed a motion for a new trial. Defendants' lead argument was that *both* the motion judge *and* the trial judge had abused their discretion in excluding the evidence of unrelated injuries and that this abuse of discretion warranted a new trial under CR 59(a)(1). CP 468-71. The trial judge agreed with Defendants that "the Court abused its discretion by prohibiting evidence on the issue of Plaintiff's physical condition, including other injuries, surgeries, and medical treatment that were not caused by the underlying motor vehicle accident" and that "Defendants were denied a fair trial." CP 629. The trial judge thus granted Defendants' Motion For New Trial. CP 627-30.

On appeal, Mr. Hollins argued that (a) the Court of Appeals should apply a de novo standard of review to the trial judge's new trial ruling, and (b) the trial judge erred in granting Defendants' Motion For New Trial. A divided panel of the Court of Appeals affirmed. App. 1-19. Addressing the

first issue, the Panel Majority held that "[a] much stronger showing of abuse of discretion is required to set aside an order granting a new trial than one denying a new trial." App. 1. Addressing the second issue, and applying that *heightened* abuse of discretion standard, the Panel Majority affirmed the trial judge's new trial ruling because Mr. Hollins had not "made this stronger showing in this case." App. 6.

Judge Dwyer dissented. Contrary to the Panel Majority's heightened abuse of discretion standard, Judge Dwyer concluded that "[a] posttrial ruling as to whether a trial court abused its discretion by excluding evidence presents a legal question, not a discretionary one. It is, therefore, entitled to no deference on further posttrial review." App. 21. Judge Dwyer further stated that *if* the Court of Appeals had not deferred to the trial judge's new trial ruling, "the result of this appeal would be entirely different." App. 22. Mr. Hollins now requests that this Court grant discretionary review regarding this outcome determinative issue.

## V. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. The Court Of Appeals' Opinion Conflicts With Decisions Of This Court And Other Appellate Courts Regarding The Proper Standard Of Review When An Appellate Court Reviews A Trial Court's Post-Trial Ruling Granting A New Trial Under CR 59(a)(1) – Thus Warranting Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

While the Panel Majority correctly stated that a ruling granting a motion for a new trial is often reviewed for abuse of discretion, that is an

incomplete statement of Washington law and is directly contrary to this Court's opinion in *Detrick v. Garretson Packing Co.*, 73 Wn.2d 804, 440 P.2d 834 (1968). The Court there held as follows:

We are not unmindful of the rule that the granting or denial of a motion for a new trial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and this court will not intervene unless it can be shown that the trial court manifestly abused its discretion. Further, a much stronger showing of an abuse of discretion will ordinarily be required to set aside an order granting a new trial than one denying a new trial. However, it is important to recognize that the 'abuse of discretion' rule is applicable only when the grounds on which the trial court grants a new trial are based on an exercise of discretion. Thus a more accurate statement of the rule governing this court's review of the granting or denial of a motion for new trial is contained in Johnson v. Howard, [45 Wn.2d 433, 436, 275 P.2d 736 (1954)]:

(A)n order granting or denying a new trial is not to be reversed, except for an abuse of discretion. This principle is subject to the limitation that, to the extent that such an order is predicated upon rulings as to the law, such as those involving the admissibility of evidence or the correctness of an instruction, no element of discretion is involved. \* \* \*

Thus, the granting of a new trial on the ground that the verdict was so excessive as to unmistakably indicate that it was the product of passion or prejudice is, of course, a matter within the discretion of the trial court, but such an order can and should be set aside where there is a manifest abuse of discretion. On the other hand, when the grounds given by the trial court for granting a new trial are predicated upon questions of law, such as involving the admissibility of evidence or the correctness of an instruction, no element of discretion is involved. In this case, this court must consider whether the grounds relied on by the trial court are supported by the applicable legal principles and decisions.

*Detrick*, 73 Wn.2d at 812-13 (emphasis added; internal citations omitted). As the italicized text confirms, when the grounds given by a trial judge for granting a new trial are predicated upon questions of law – including decisions "involving the admissibility of evidence" – the abuse of discretion standard does not apply. *Id*.

Division Two recently applied *Detrick* to the same effect in *M.R.B. v. Puyallup School District*, 169 Wn. App. 837, 282 P.3d 1124 (2012). Citing *Detrick*, the court in *M.R.B.* squarely held that "when an error of law is cited as grounds for a new trial under CR 59(a)(8), we review the alleged error of law de novo." *Id.* at 848. Division Two's opinion in *McCoy v. Kent Nursery, Inc.*, 163 Wn. App. 744, 260 P.3d 967 (2011), is also instructive on this point. In determining the applicable standard of review, the court examined whether "appellate courts are in as good a position as trial courts" to review a particular issue, in which case the appellate court reviews the trial court's decision de novo. *Id.* at 759 (quoting *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d 337, 350, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003). <sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Panel Majority distinguished *McCoy* as well as several other cases relied upon by Mr. Hollins (App. 6-7), but it did so largely on factual grounds that are not material here. Mr. Hollins relied on these cases for discrete legal principles, as set forth in this Petition.

of law de novo." E.g., Donatelli v. D.R. Strong Consulting Engineers, Inc., 179 Wn.2d 84, 90, 312 P.3d 620 (2013).

Applying these legal principles here confirms – as Judge Dwyer concluded – that the trial judge's new trial ruling is not entitled to deference, let alone *heightened deference*, on appeal. The trial judge granted Defendants' Motion For New Trial solely under CR 59(a)(1), which permits trial courts to grant a new trial based on "[i]rregularity in the proceedings of the court, jury or adverse party, or any order of the court, or *abuse of discretion*, by which such party was prevented from having a fair trial." (Emphasis added.) As the plain language of the rule confirms, a court may grant a new trial based on an evidentiary ruling only if it first concludes that it abused its discretion in making that ruling.

As Judge Dwyer concluded, there is no basis to defer to the trial judge's new trial ruling because it was necessarily predicated on her ruling that it was an abuse of discretion to exclude the evidence of unrelated injuries. Not only are appellate courts in as good a position as trial courts to decide whether it was an abuse of discretion to exclude evidence, appellate courts – unlike trial courts – regularly review and decide such issues. Nor does a trial court exercise further discretion in granting a new trial under CR 59(a)(1) after it decides whether there was such an abuse of discretion. Instead, it applies the plain language of the rule to determine

whether a new trial is warranted. Thus, as Judge Dwyer noted, "[a] posttrial ruling as to whether a trial court abused its discretion by excluding evidence presents a legal question, not a discretionary one. It is, therefore, entitled to no deference on further posttrial review." App. 21.

This conclusion is also logically sound, as Judge Dwyer further explained. App. 21-22. Assume that Defendants here, instead of filing a Motion for New Trial, allowed judgment to enter on the jury verdict and then appealed. The appellate court would affirm or vacate based solely on whether the trial court abused its discretion when it excluded the evidence of unrelated injuries. The fact that a motion for new trial was filed should not alter the appellate court's analysis. That, too, confirms that the new trial ruling presents a legal question, not a discretionary one, and is not entitled to deference on appeal.

Judge Dwyer also examined how this Court reviews a ruling by the Court of Appeals reviewing an evidentiary decision by a trial court. App. 21. In that circumstance, this Court does not apply an abuse of discretion standard of review to the Court of Appeals' ruling holding that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding evidence. "Instead, the Supreme Court views the matter as presenting a legal question and ignores the appellate ruling, instead applying an abuse of discretion standard directly to the trial court ruling at issue." *Id.* (citing *In re Det. of Post*, 170 Wn.2d 302, 241

P.3d 1234 (2010); *State v. Magers*, 164 Wn.2d 174, 189 P.3d 126 (2008); *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 893 P.2d 615 (1995)). There is no reason to treat a trial court's post-trial ruling any differently. Because the Panel Majority's holding conflicts with the foregoing cases, including this Court's detailed discussion of the standard of review in *Detrick*, discretionary review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

# B. The Court Of Appeals' Opinion Also "Involves An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By The Supreme Court" – Thus Warranting Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This proceeding also involves an issue of substantial public interest because the Panel Majority's holding regarding the applicable standard of review undermines the sanctity of the jury process and litigants' constitutional right to a jury trial. In *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 646, 771 P.2d 711, *amended*, 780 P.2d 260 (1989), this Court stated that "our constitution, in article 1, section 21, protects the jury's role to determine damages." In *Bunnell v. Barr*, 68 Wn.2d 771, 777, 415 P.2d 640 (1966), the Court likewise stated that "[i]t is the province of the jury to weigh the evidence, under proper instructions, and determine the facts." Thus, "[t]he finding of the jury, upon substantial, conflicting evidence properly submitted to it, is final." *Id*.

Granting a new trial here undermines Mr. Hollins' right to a jury trial. When Defendants' counsel first asked the trial judge to "reconsider" the motion judge's order in limine regarding unrelated injuries, she argued that "it's important for the jury now to have a complete picture, certainly now that the jury has been asked to award \$5.2 million." RP 281. Defendants clearly misjudged the gravity of Mr. Hollins' claims and therefore made a strategic decision – which they later regretted – to concede liability, withdraw their affirmative defenses, and proceed to trial without medical testimony linking Mr. Hollins' unrelated injuries to the harm caused by the 2011 collision. But as one court noted, "[h]aving proceeded to judgment on legally insufficient proof, Appellee does not get a do-over." *Pain Care First of Orlando, LLC v. Edwards*, 84 So.3d 351, 355 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2012). The same reasoning applies here.

Judge Dwyer correctly recognized that issue as well. As he explained, Mr. Hollins' motion in limine "was properly brought," and Defendants "had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the motion." App. 23. As noted previously, Defendants responded to the motion in limine by stating that they "concede that plaintiff is not making a claim for a right wrist injury, left elbow injury, left knee injury or right hip injury" and "do not intend to explore those injuries unless the Plaintiff opens the door." CP 96 (emphasis added). As Judge Dwyer recognized, Defendants "made the

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