# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/8/2017 9:25 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95131-4

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 75532-3-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### BRIAN HOLLINS,

Petitioner,

v.

### RICHARD ZBARASCHUK AND ALEXIA ZBARASCHUK,

Respondents.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kelley J. Sweeney WSBA #25441 Law Offices of Sweeney & Dietzler 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 3300 Seattle, WA 98154-1101 (206) 473-4004

Attorneys for Respondents

#

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

As Detrick recognized:

In the instant case, the trial court's determination that, as a matter of law, plaintiff had no reasonable

# alternative did not involve an exercise of discretion. Thus, in determining whether the trial court properly granted a new trial, we must simply determine whether the trial court's reason is supported by the applicable legal principles and decisions. We have concluded that there was sufficient evidence to submit the question of 'volenti' to the jury (i.e., that reasonable minds could differ as to whether plaintiff had a reasonable alternative). Thus, we must reverse the trial court's order granting a new trial, not because he abused his discretion, but because his conclusion of law, on which that order was based, was in error.

Id. at 813–14 (emphasis supplied).

Here, the reason given by the trial court in granting the new trial

under CR 59(a)(1) is that she abused her discretion in excluding evidence.

This was not predicated on a question of law. There is no conflict with

this case and *Detrick*. The underlying situation is completely different.

The trial court in Detrick found it committed an error of law in instructing

the jury. Id.

Furthermore, there is no conflict here with Johnson v. Howard, 45

Wn.2d 433, 275 P.2d 736 (1954), a case upon which Detrick relies.

In Johnson, the following three reasons were considered by the

Court in conjunction with the motion for new trial:

- 1. The verdict was so grossly excessive as to unmistakably indicate that it was the result of passion or prejudice;
- 2. Misconduct of the plaintiffs' counsel; and
- 3. Substantial justice has not been done.

*Id.* at 436, 442, 444.

Upon review of these bases supporting the motion for new trial for abuse of discretion, the Court concluded:

"[C]onsidered separately or together, the reasons set out in the order do not warrant the granting of a new trial. It was therefore an abuse of discretion to grant a new trial on the grounds indicated."

Id. at 447.

This case did not involve review of an order under CR 59(a)(1), but all of the bases that the Court did review were still for abuse of discretion. *Id*.

Mr. Hollins does not offer any case that supports a different standard of review under these facts. In fact, Mr. Hollins cites one additional case which again clearly supports Division I's decision.

In M.R.B. v. Puyallup Sch. Dist., 169 Wn. App. 837, 848, 282 P.3d

1124, 1130 (2012), the Court outlined the standard of review as follows:

We review a trial court's denial of a motion for a new trial under CR 59(a)(1), CR 59(a)(2), and CR 59(a)(9) to determine whether " 'such a feeling of prejudice [has] been engendered or located in the minds of the jury as to prevent [the] litigant from having a fair trial.' But when an error of law is cited as grounds for a new trial under CR 59(a)(8), we review the alleged error of law de novo.

Id. (citations omitted).

First, *M.R.B.* involves review of a trial court's denial of a motion for new trial and clearly sets out the standard for review of such under CR59(a)(1) as being abuse of discretion.<sup>5</sup> Second, it clearly outlines *a different* standard of review for an error of law under CR 59(a)(8) as being review de novo. *Id.* citing *Detrick*, 73 Wn. 2d at 812..

Here, the trial court granted the Zbarachuks' motion pursuant to CR 59(a)(1). Division I properly reviewed this decision for abuse of discretion just like the court in *M.R.B.* Mr. Hollins ignores the actual grounds upon which the trial court granted the motion for new trial (CR 59(a)(1)) and instead attempts to mislead this Court to impose a de novo standard of review based upon an error of law under CR 59(a)(8). This was not a basis under which the trial court granted the motion. As such, de novo review has no application to the facts of this case and no case law has been offered to support a contrary determination. Division I's decision is clearly in line with all of the case law Mr. Hollins cites in addition to the one case he conspicuously omits, *Clark v. Teng.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *M.R.B.* cites *Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 140 Wn.2d 517, 537, 998 P.2d 856, 869 (2000), which states: "Abuse of discretion is the standard of review for an order denying a motion for a new trial: 'An order denying a new trial will not be reversed except for abuse of discretion. The criterion for testing abuse of discretion is: '[H]as such a feeling of prejudice been engendered or located in the minds of the jury as to prevent a litigant from having a fair trial?' " quoting *Moore v. Smith*, 89 Wn.2d 932, 942, 578 P.2d 26 (1978)(citations omitted).

The other cases upon which Mr. Hollins relies (and as cited by Justice Dwyer in dissent APP 21, fn. 2) are irrelevant to the Court's determination in this case as they did not involve a trial court's grant of a motion for new trial.<sup>6</sup> They all stand quite simply for the undisputed proposition that a trial court's ruling on admission of evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. This is not the issue here.

Mr. Hollins notes that the "Panel Majority distinguishes *McCoy* as well as several other cases relied upon by Mr. Hollins (App. 6-7), but it did so largely on factual grounds that are not material here. Mr. Hollins relied on these cases for discrete legal principles, as set forth in this Petition." Petition at 10, fn 1. But "the discrete legal principles" upon which Mr. Hollins relies, i.e. that de novo review is appropriate where the grounds for a trial court's decision on a motion for new trial are based on an error of law, are not in dispute. Mr. Hollins failed to convince Division I and has not provided any contrary authority here, that the trial court's decision was based on an "error of law."

*McCoy* is clearly distinguishable because the court found the trial court abused its discretion in ordering a new trial under CR 59(a)(9). *McCoy v. Kent Nursery, Inc.*, 163 Wn. App 744, 757, 260 P.3d 967(2011). Again, the trial court here relied on CR 59(a)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See e.g., In re Det. Of Post, 170 Wn.2d 302, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010); State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 189 P.3d 126 (2008); State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 893 P.2d 615 (1995).

Similarly, Division I appropriately recognized that the two additional cases upon which Mr. Hollins relied<sup>7</sup> did nothing to address the issue in this case. App 06-07. *Bunnell* and *Thompson* involved the Court of Appeals review of the evidence and the trial court's grant of a new trial based on the jury's verdict. *Id.* This was not the case here.

Here, the trial court granted a motion for new trial under CR 59(a)(1) because the trial court found that it had wrongfully denied the Zbaraschuks the opportunity to present evidence to their detriment. This case did not require the appellate court's review of the verdict. This was not a case where the trial court disagreed with or even questioned the jury's ruling. In fact, just the opposite occurred.<sup>8</sup> Division I appropriately reviewed the trial court's grant of a motion for new trial under CR 59(a)(1) for abuse of discretion consistent with appellate precedent. Mr. Hollins' Petition should be denied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Bunnell v. Barr, 68 Wn.2d 771, 775, 415 P.2d 640, 643–44 (1966) and *Thompson v.* Grays Harbor Community Hosp., 36 Wn. App. 300, 307–08, 675 P.2d 239, 243–44 (1983). <sup>8</sup> The trial court stated, "Way we take the data for the bard state of the state

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The trial court stated: "I'm not saying that [the jury's] decision was in error or they considered things incorrectly or anything of that nature. I'm obviously not in a position to say that. But I do believe that it was an abuse of discretion for me to exclude that information and to prevent the defendants from being able to raise those issues as factoring into how Mr. Hollins' current condition was affected by the motor vehicle accident... " RP 35-36.

B. The Court Should Deny Mr. Hollins' Petition for Review Where Mr. Hollins' Self-Interest in Preserving a Two Million Dollar Jury Verdict Based on Incomplete and Misleading Evidence Fails to Present An Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Mr. Hollins argues that "granting a new trial here undermines [his] right to a jury trial" and that it is "manifestly unfair to Mr. Hollins to discard the jury verdict and require him (and his trial lawyers) to start all over again." Petition at 14 and 17. Mr. Hollins fails to explain how this presents an issue of substantial public interest. He further ignores the trial court's finding that it was the Zbaraschuks' who were prevented from having a fair trial given the omission of relevant evidence to permit the jury to adequately fulfill its constitutional function.

As an initial matter, in many instances where this Court has granted review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), the case was moot, yet the Court concluded that a question presented by the case should nevertheless be decided because it had substantial ramifications on the public interest. As such, it appears that in most cases, RAP 13.4(b)(4) functions as an exception to the mootness doctrine.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See, e.g., *Bellevue Sch. Dist. v. E.S.*, 171 Wn.2d 695, 699 n.1, 257 P.3<sup>rd</sup> 570 (2011) ("[T]he question of whether or not a child has the right to counsel at an initial truancy hearing is an issue of significant public interest affecting many parties and will likely be raised in the future. Because we decide cases of substantial public interest likely to recur even though the issues may be moot, we reach the issues presented."); *Satomi Owners Ass 'n v. Satomi, LLC*, 167 Wn.2d 781, 796, 225 P.3d 213 (2009) ("Notwithstanding the fact that the case is moot, we choose to review the preemption question. We do so because it is one of 'continuing and substantial public interest.") (citation omitted);

As this Court outlined in State v. Cruz, 404 P.3d 70, 75–76 (Wash.

2017):

There is an exception: we may retain and decide a moot case "when it can be said that matters of continuing and substantial public interest are involved." We consider three factors in determining whether a case satisfies this exception: ' [(1)] the public or private nature of the question presented, [(2)] the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and [ (3) ] the likelihood of future recurrence of the question.'

*Id.* (citations omitted).

Here, the present appeal is not moot. Mr. Hollins has not cited a

single case that supports that review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is appropriate

in this circumstance. Certainly preserving Mr. Hollins' two million dollar

verdict does not present an issue of "substantial public interest." Mr.

Hollins does not even reference factors pertinent to consider whether

something is of substantial public import, let alone explain how this

situation meets any such factors.<sup>10</sup>

*Cathcart–Maltby–Clearview Cmty. Council v. Snohomish County*, 96 Wn.2d 201, 208, 634 P.2d 853 (1981) ("A moot case will be reviewed if its issue is a matter of continuing and substantial interest, it presents a question of a public nature which is likely to recur, and it is desirable to provide an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officials."). <sup>10</sup> In addition to the concept of mootness, the phrase "substantial public interest," has been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> In addition to the concept of mootness, the phrase "substantial public interest" has been considered in the context of standing as well. Similarly, even traditional standing to bring a lawsuit is not an absolute bar to a court's review where an important issue is at stake. *See Grant County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 803, 83 P.3d 419 (2004) (holding that when an issue "is of substantial public importance, immediately affects significant segments of the population, and has a direct bearing on commerce, finance, labor, industry, or agriculture," we will "take a 'less rigid and more liberal' approach to standing." (*quoting Wash. Natural Gas Co. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish County*, 77 Wn.2d 94, 96, 459 P.2d 633 (1969))).

Even assuming RAP 13.4(b)(4) applies outside the mootness realm, "substantial public interest" entails some degree of importance to the citizens of Washington beyond the insular desire to sustain an individual verdict related to a motor vehicle accident.

Lastly, it is unknown why Mr. Hollins references the "open the door" concept and a 2017 case in the section of his brief related to review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). It appears he challenges the trial court and appellate court findings that Mr. Hollins opened the door to evidence of his significant pre and post-accident injuries, surgeries and permanent impairments; however, such does not form the basis for this Court to accept his Petition for Review.

In any event, Division I correctly analyzed the "open door" rule and recognized that Mr. Hollins testified he has a permanent disability and that he had been in treatment "for the last five years." App 09. "The evidence is neither speculative nor unduly prejudicial."<sup>11</sup> *Id.* at 13. Division I also appropriately recognized that the trial court's limiting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Neither is the evidence "confusing." Petition at 16, fn. 3. Mr. Hollins again criticizes the Majority for distinguishing the line of cases he offered in support of exclusion of previous unrelated conditions and argues regarding "the complex medical issues raised by Mr. Hollins' unrelated injuries." *Id.* Again, this criticism does not form a basis for this Court to accept the Petition. In any event, the Majority appropriately distinguished the issues and recognized the critical difference between evidence going toward damages and evidence being used to attack or support causation. APP 13-16. Again, our issue was not whether there was an aggravation or a superseding cause for Mr. Hollins' neck injury. As such, there was no justification for a blanket exclusion of other relevant testimony bearing on damages, but that would not confuse the jury in regard to causation, nor require the jury to speculate.

instruction which only concerned the cost of medical treatment "did nothing to address other damages, which included past and future economic and non-economic damages. Thus, it did not cure prejudice, as argued." APP 18.

Mr. Hollins testified as to his present physical condition, his perception of his "disability," his self-imposed work limitations, his need to stand up at various times during trial and testimony solely because of his neck, the degree of impairment that he allegedly suffered in regard to his neck, and his aversion to cervical surgery. In so doing, he placed his credibility at issue and opened the door to rebuttal evidence showing that he may not have been injured to the extent he claimed, he was not adverse to surgery and/or was not having the surgery because he truly did not need it unlike his several other surgeries, and that other injuries and limitations affected his overall picture of health, well-being, ability to work and damages. The Zbaraschuks did not need expert medical testimony in this regard.<sup>12</sup> Mr. Hollins would have provided the only support needed with his own testimony of ongoing pain, permanent impairment and limitations and Dr. Brzusek could have been asked about the same. The jury would not be asked to speculate given Mr. Hollins' own testimony.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Colley v. Peacehealth, 177 Wn. App. 717, 728-29, 312 P.3d 989 (2013) (citing *Miller v. Stanton*, 58 Wn.2d 879, 885-86, 365 P.2d 333 (1961)).

#### V. CONCLUSION

Discretionary review is reserved for those few cases that meet one or more of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). This is not one of them.

The trial court granted the Zbaraschuks' motion for new trial under CR 59(a)(1) finding that "the Court abused its discretion by prohibiting evidence on the issue of [Mr. Hollins'] physical condition, including other injuries, surgeries, and medical treatments that were not caused by the underlying motor vehicle accident, for the purposes of establishing credibility and defending against [Hollins'] claimed damages." CP 627-630. Division I correctly reviewed the trial court's decision for abuse of discretion consistent with appellate precedent. Because Mr. Hollins cannot establish any conflict with Division I's decision and cases of this Court or the Court of Appeals, nor that this case is of substantial public interest, his Petition for Review should be denied.